NO. 45755-5-II

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

VS.

GARY COLE,

Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

John A. Hays, No. 16654 Attorney for Appellant

1402 Broadway Suite 103 Longview, WA 98632 (360) 423-3084

B.	ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR
	1. Assignment of Error
	2. Issue Pertaining to Assignment of Error
C.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
D.	ARGUMENT
	I. THE TRIAL COURT VIOLATED THE DEFENDANT'S STATUTORY RIGHT TO A SPEEDY TRIAL WHEN IT UNREASONABLY GRANTED A STATE'S MOTION TO CONTINUE THE TRIAL DATE
	AMENDMENT
E.	CONCLUSION
F.	APPENDIX
	1. Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 3
	2. United States Constitution, Fourteenth Amendment 17
	3. CrR 3.3
G.	AFFIRMATION OF SERVICE

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page				
Federal Cases				
Bruton v. United States, 391 U.S. 123, 20 L.Ed.2d 476, 88 S.Ct. 1620 (1968)				
Chambers v. Mississippi, 410 U.S. 284, 93 S.Ct. 1038, 35 L.Ed.2d 297 (1973)				
State Cases				
State v. Birdwell, 6 Wn. App. 284, 492 P.2d 249 (1972)				
State v. Buford, 93 Wn. App. 149, 967 P.2d 548 (1998) 13, 14				
State v. Callahan, 77 Wn.2d 27, 459 P.2d 400 (1969)				
State v. Cleppe, 96 Wn.2d 373, 635 P.2d 435 (1981), cert. denied, 456 U.S. 1006 (1982)				
State v. Kingen, 39 Wn.App. 124, 692 P.2d 215 (1984) 6				
State v. Lawrence, 108 Wn. App. 226, 31 P.3d 1198 (2001)				
State v. MacMaster, 113 Wn.2d 226, 778 P.2d 1037 (1989) 12				
State v. Morris, 70 Wn.2d 27, 422 P.2d 27 (1966)				
State v. Nguyen, 131 Wn.App. 815, 129 P.3d 821 (2006)				
State v. Staley, 123 Wn.2d 794, 872 P.2d 502 (1994)				
State v. Swenson, 62 Wn.2d 259, 382 P.2d 614 (1963)				
State v. Williams, 93 Wash.App. 340, 968 P.2d 26 (1998), review denied, 38 Wash.2d 1002, 984 P.2d 1034 (1999)				

Constitutional Provisions

Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 3						
United States Constitution, Fourteenth Amendment						
Statutes and Court Rules						
CrR 3.36, 7						
RCW 69.5012						
WPIC 52.0114						

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

Assignment of Error

- 1. The trial court violated the defendant's statutory right to a speedy trial when it unreasonably granted a state's motion to continue the trial date.
- 2. The trial court's refusal to instruct the jury on unwitting possession denied the defendant his right to present a defense under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 3, and United States Constitution, Fourteenth Amendment.

Issues Pertaining to Assignment of Error

- 1. Does a trial court violate a defendant's statutory right to a speedy trial if it grants a state's motion to continue a trial based upon a police officer's vacation schedule known to the state at the time the court originally set the trial?
- 2. Does a trial court's refusal to instruct a jury on unwitting possession deny a defendant the right to present a defense under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 3, and United States Constitution, Fourteenth Amendment, when the evidence presented at trial supports an inference that the defendant did possess the controlled substance in question but was unaware of that fact at the time of possession?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

According to Gray's Harbor County Sheriff's Deputy Robert Wilson. on January 11, 2013, he was on routine patrol on State Route 109 near Moclips when he saw the defendant Gary Cole standing next to a vehicle parked off the roadway. RP 29-32.1 At the time Deputy Wilson knew that there was an outstanding misdemeanor warrant for the defendant's arrest on a minor traffic matter. Id. As a result, deputy Wilson stopped his vehicle, approached the defendant, placed him in handcuffs, and escorted to the front of the patrol car. RP 32-34. He then called in and confirmed the existence of the warrant. Id. Based upon that confirmation he told the defendant he was under arrest and began searching him incident to arrest. Id. While searching the defendant Deputy Wilson found a small, unmarked pill bottle in the front of the defendant's pants pocket. Id. The bottle had one oblong tablet in it and five round tablets. RP 34-35. Later analysis confirmed that the oblong pill contained hydrocodone and the five round pills contained oxycodone. RP 20-25. Both hydrocodone and oxycodone are controlled substances. Id.

The defendant's version of the events varied from that of Deputy

¹The record in the case at bar includes one continuously numbered volume of the verbatim reports of the hearing held in this case on 10/10/13, the jury trial held on 11/13/13 and the sentencing hearings held on 12/4/13 and 12/11/13. It is referred to herein as RP [page #].

Wilson. RP 40-56. According to the defendant, when the Deputy first approached, he accused the defendant of committing a burglary. RP 40-42. The deputy then placed him under arrest, put him in handcuffs and took him to the area behind the patrol vehicle. *Id.* At that point the deputy began searching him. *Id.* During this search the deputy put five tablets on the hood of the patrol vehicle. *Id.* However, the defendant denied that the Deputy pulled them or the bottle out of his pocket. *Id.* Rather, the defendant claimed that the Deputy must have already had the pills in his possession because the defendant had never seen them before. RP 43-44.

Based upon the Deputy's claims, the Grays Harbor County Prosecutor charged the defendant with one count of possession of controlled substances. CP 1-3, 37. The defendant appeared for arraignment on August 7, 2013, following his first appearance two days previous. *See* Minute Sheet and Notice of Trial date Setting, Documents 7 and 9 from the Supplemental Designation of Clerk's Papers. At the time of the first appearance the court set bail at \$0 since the defendant was in custody on another matter for which he had not made bail. RP 3-11. At arraignment the court set the defendant's trial date for October 22, 2013, which was 76 days from arraignment. *See* Minute Sheet and Notice of Trial date Setting, Documents 7 and 9 from the Supplemental Designation of Clerk's Papers. On Tuesday, October 2, 2013, the state put the matter on for a motion to continue. CP 15-16. The basis for

this continuance was given as follows:

The State has received word that the State's material witness, Deputy Bob Wilson, will be on prescheduled vacation until October 28, 2013. Deputy Wilson has had this vacation scheduled for some time. Deputy Wilson is one of only two witnesses that State intends to call and the person who witnessed the defendant possessing the contraband. The State is unable to proceed without the testimony of Deputy Wilson.

CP 16.

At the hearing on the motion the prosecutor informed the court that the previous Sunday he had first read an e-mail Deputy Wilson had sent late the previous Friday. RP 3-4. In that e-mail Deputy Wilson told him that "his long scheduled annual vacation leave extends until the 28th of the month, trial being set for the 22nd of this month." RP 3-4. The trial court granted the motion over the defendant's objection and set a new trial date for November 13, 2013, which was 108 days from arraignment. RP 9-10.

During the trial the state called Deputy Wilson and the laboratory technician who had tested the pills as its only witnesses. RP 18, 29. The defendant then took the stand as the only witness for the defense. RP 40. Following brief rebuttal by Deputy Wilson, the court instructed the jury. RP 52-54. However, the court refused to give the defendant's requested instruction on unwitting possession. *Id.* This proposed instruction was taken from WPIC 52.01 and stated as follows:

A person is not guilty of possession of a controlled substance if

the possession is unwitting. Possession of a controlled substance is unwitting if a person did not know that the substance was in his possession or did not know the nature of the substance.

The burden is on the defendant to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that the substance was possessed unwittingly. Preponderance of the evidence means that you must be persuaded, considering all of the evidence in the case, that it is more probably true than not true.

CP 42.

The court reasoned that since the defendant had denied possessing the pills, he was not entitled to the requested instruction. *Id.* Following instruction the parties presented their closing arguments and the jury retired for deliberation, eventually returning a guilty verdict. RP 61, 61-71, 73-75; CP 28-34. The court later sentenced the defendant to 12 months and one day in prison and ran the sentence concurrent with a sentence previously imposed on another matter. CP 69-79. The defendant thereafter filed timely notice of appeal. CP 83.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT VIOLATED THE DEFENDANT'S STATUTORY RIGHT TO A SPEEDY TRIAL WHEN IT UNREASONABLY GRANTED THE STATE'S MOTION TO CONTINUE THE TRIAL DATE.

Under CrR 3.3(b), the time for trial for a person held in jail on the matter before the court is "90 days after the commencement date specified in this rule," or "the time specified under subsection (b)(5)." CrR 3.3(b)(1)(i)&(ii). The "initial commencement date" under CrR 3.3(c)(1) is "the date of arraignment as determined under CrR 4.1." Under CrR 3.3(h), "[a] criminal charge not brought to trial within the time period provided by this rule shall be dismissed with prejudice." CrR 3.3(h). The purpose of CrR 3.3 is to prevent undue and oppressive incarceration prior to trial. *State v. Kingen*, 39 Wn.App. 124, 692 P.2d 215 (1984).

Under CrR 3.3(f)(2), the trial court may grant a motion to continue a trial to a specific date outside of the time limits for speedy trial upon a showing of good cause if such continuance is "required in the administration of justice" and it will not prejudice the defendant. This section states:

(f) Continuances. Continuances or other delays may be granted as follows:

. . .

(2) Motion by the Court or a Party. On motion of the court or a party, the court may continue the trial date to a specified date when such continuance is required in the administration of justice and the

defendant will not be prejudiced in the presentation of his or her defense. The motion must be made before the time for trial has expired. The court must state on the record or in writing the reasons for the continuance. The bringing of such motion by or on behalf of any party waives that party's objection to the requested delay.

CrR 3.3(f)(2).

While the trial court bears the responsibility for assuring a defendant's right to speedy trial under this rule, the decision whether or not to grant a continuance beyond the time required under CrR 3.3 lies within the sound discretion of the trial court and will only be overruled upon an abuse of that discretion. *State v. Nguyen*, 131 Wn.App. 815, 129 P.3d 821 (2006). An abuse of discretion occurs "when the trial court's decision is arbitrary or rests on untenable grounds or untenable reasons." *State v. Lawrence*, 108 Wn.App. 226, 31 P.3d 1198 (2001).

For example, in *State v. Nguyen*, *supra*, a defendant was convicted of a home invasion robbery following a trial outside the time for speedy trial. The court set the trial outside the speedy trial rule upon the state's motion that it needed more time to gather more information about some "related" home invasion robberies. In fact the state had no evidence linking the defendant or his offense to the other defendants and the other cases. Rather, the state believed that further investigation might potentially link the cases. Following conviction the defendant appealed, arguing that the trial court had abused its discretion when it granted the state's motion to continue.

In addressing the defendant's arguments the Court of Appeals first acknowledged that separate trials for multiple defendant's charged with the same offenses were not favored at the law. Thus, it would well be within the trial court's discretion to exceed one defendant's speedy trial rights in order to facilitate a joint trial. However, the court went on to note that where the various defendants were not charged jointly and where there was no evidence to link the various similar offenses, it would be an abuse of discretion to exceed one defendant's speedy trial rights to allow the police more time to search for "potential" connections among the cases. The court held:

The suspicion that a link will "potentially" be discovered between the case that is scheduled for trial, and other crimes not yet charged, is not like other reasons that our courts have recognized as justifying delay of trial as "required in the administration of justice." The continuance in this case was not required to allow the State to prepare its case. The State could have proceeded to trial on December 29 on the charge for which Nguyen had already been arraigned. If forensic testing later provided evidence that Nguyen was responsible for other crimes, the State could have filed the additional charges at that time. Alternatively, if trying all the home invasion robberies together was a higher priority, the State could have waited to charge Nguyen until the testing of evidence was completed. The State has not explained why it is just to detain a defendant longer than 60 days after arraignment solely on the suspicion that he might be linked to some other crime.

State v. Nguyen, 131 Wn.App. at 820-821.

In the case at bar, the state cited the decision in *State v. Grilley*, 67 Wn. App. 795, 799, 840 P.2d 903, 904-05 (1992), in support of its argument that the trial court had discretion to continue a trial date in order to

accommodate an officer's vacation schedule. See State's Argument at RP 7. Although the defense objected, the trial court agreed with the state's argument and granted the motion to continue. As the following explains, the trial court's reliance upon the decision in *Grilley* was misplaced.

In *Grilley* a District Court had granted a continuance beyond the time set for speedy trial in order to accommodate a police officer's vacation schedule. After stipulating to facts sufficient to convict, the defendant appealed and the Superior Court reversed, finding that the trial court had abused its discretion in granting the continuance. The Court of Appeals then accepted review and reversed, generally finding that the accommodation of a police officer's vacation schedule was valid grounds to grant a continuance beyond the time required under the speedy trial rule. However, the court specifically noted that its ruling was based upon a finding that there had been no mismanagement by the state.

The problem in the case at bar with the trial court's reliance upon the decision in *Grilley* is that in the case at bar the trial court ignored the state's mismanagement of the trial date in this case, a fact not present in *Grilley*. In *Grilley* the court noted:

The right to a speedy trial is a significant right. However, if conflicts with previously scheduled vacations of investigating officers could never be considered as a proper basis for a relatively brief continuance beyond the speedy trial period, we doubt that some officer witnesses would ever be able to take vacations. Here, the State

promptly moved for a continuance when it discovered the conflict, well within the speedy trial period. There is no indication in the record that the State failed to exercise appropriate case management responsibility, either in the original trial setting or in the timeliness of its motion for continuance. The rescheduled trial date did not cause an unreasonable delay, and no actual prejudice resulted.

State v. Grilley, 67 Wn. App. at 799 (emphasis added).

In contrast with Grilley, in the case at bar there is significant indication in the record that the State failed to exercise appropriate case management responsibility at the original trial setting. This conclusion follows from the following facts revealed in both the state's written motion as well as the state's oral arguments on the motion. These facts were that (1) the officer's "long scheduled annual vacation leave" (oral argument on motion) had been set "for some time" (written motion), and (2) that the state did not find out about the conflict until a few days before the October 2nd Motion to Continue. The conclusion to be drawn in this case is that at the arraignment on August 7, 2014, the state had no idea what the vacation schedule was for Deputy Wilson. This is significant evidence of mismanagement that did not exist in Grilley. It is not too much for this court to hold the state to a standard that requires it to be aware of the "long scheduled annual vacations" for the police officers who routinely testify for the prosecutor.

Were this a case in which the vacation schedule had been written

down incorrectly or had been changed without the knowledge of the prosecuting attorney then this court would probably be more sympathetic to the need for a continuance. However, the facts of this case are that the officer's vacation schedule had been "long scheduled" and set "for some time" and the prosecutor who appeared at trial setting was not aware of this schedule. Under these facts the trial court did abuse its discretion in granting a continuance to reset a trial date past the time required under the speedy trial rule. As a result, this court should reverse the defendant's conviction and remand for dismissal with prejudice.

II. THE TRIAL COURT'S REFUSAL TO INSTRUCT THE JURY ON UNWITTING POSSESSION DENIED THE DEFENDANT HIS RIGHT TO PRESENT A DEFENSE UNDER WASHINGTON CONSTITUTION, ARTICLE 1, § 3, AND UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION, FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT.

While due process under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 3 and United States Constitution, Fourteenth Amendment does not guarantee every person a perfect trial, it does guarantee all defendants a fair trial. *State v. Swenson*, 62 Wn.2d 259, 382 P.2d 614 (1963); *Bruton v. United States*, 391 U.S. 123, 20 L.Ed.2d 476, 88 S.Ct. 1620 (1968). As part of this right to a fair trial due process also guarantees that a defendant charged with a crime will be allowed to present relevant, exculpatory evidence in his or her defense. *State v. Hudlow*, 99 Wn.2d 1, 659 P.2d 514 (1983); *Chambers v. Mississippi*, 410 U.S. 284, 93 S.Ct. 1038, 35 L.Ed.2d 297 (1973). Consequently, the trial

court's failure to instruct on a defense allowed under the law and supported by the facts violates due process under both Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 3, and United States Constitution, Fourteenth Amendment. *State v. MacMaster*, 113 Wn.2d 226, 778 P.2d 1037 (1989). In the case at bar the defense argues that the trial court violated the defendant's right to due process when it refused to give the defendant's proposed instructions on unwitting possession.

In evaluating whether the evidence is sufficient to support a jury instruction the court must interpret it most strongly in favor of the defendant and must not weigh the proof or judge the witnesses' credibility, which are exclusive functions of the jury. *State v. Williams*, 93 Wash.App. 340, 348, 968 P.2d 26 (1998), *review denied*, 38 Wash.2d 1002, 984 P.2d 1034 (1999). A valid instruction, improperly denied, constitutes reversible error. *State v. Birdwell*. 6 Wn. App. 284, 297, 492 P.2d 249 (1972).

In a prosecution for unlawful possession under RCW 69.50, the State must establish two elements to sustain a conviction: the nature of the substance as a controlled substance and the fact of possession by the defendant. *State v. Cleppe*, 96 Wn.2d 373, 378, 635 P.2d 435 (1981), *cert. denied*, 456 U.S. 1006 (1982). Possession is defined in terms of personal custody or dominion and control. *State v. Callahan*, 77 Wn.2d 27, 29, 459 P.2d 400 (1969). The State is not required to prove either knowledge or

intent to possess, nor knowledge as to the nature of the substance in a charge of simple possession. *State v. Staley*, 123 Wn.2d 794, 799, 872 P.2d 502 (1994). Once the State establishes prima facie evidence of possession, the defendant may, nevertheless, affirmatively assert that the possession of the drug was unwitting. *State v. Morris*, 70 Wn.2d 27, 34, 422 P.2d 27 (1966). The defense of unwitting possession may be supported by a showing that the defendant did not know he was in possession of the controlled substance. *Cleppe*, 96 Wn.2d at 381. The defendant may also show that he did not know the nature of the substance he possessed. *Staley*, 123 Wn.2d at 799. If the defendant affirmatively establishes that "his 'possession' was unwitting, then he had no possession for which the law will convict." *Cleppe*, 96 Wn.2d at 799.

For example, in *State v. Buford*, 93 Wn. App. 149, 152-53, 967 P.2d 548 (1998), the defendant was convicted of possession of cocaine residue scraped from a pipe the police found under the defendant's hat. At trial, the defendant requested an unwitting possession instruction based upon his argument that the amount of drugs was so small that his possession of the drugs was unwitting. The trial court refused to give the instruction and the jury convicted. The defendant then appealed arguing error from the trial court's refusal to give the requested instruction.

In reviewing the denial of the unwitting possession instruction, the

court of appeals noted that the only evidence that Buford unwittingly possessed the cocaine was that the amount of cocaine seized was small and actually had to be scraped with a scalpel from the crack pipe. Given the limited facts, the court felt that an unwitting possession instruction invited the jury to engage in speculation or conjecture. The court stated:

Without receiving some basic facts — such as where did the defendant get the pipe, how long had he been carrying the pipe, did he express dismay that he possessed the pipe, why was he carrying the pipe under his hat, did he know what the pipe was used for, and did he know what cocaine looked like — the jury could not have properly utilized [Buford's proposed unwitting possession] instruction.

Buford, 93 Wn. App. at 153.

In the case at bar the defendant proposed a written instruction on unwitting possession from WPIC 52.01. This proposed written instruction stated:

A person is not guilty of possession of a controlled substance if the possession is unwitting. Possession of a controlled substance is unwitting if a person did not know that the substance was in his possession or did not know the nature of the substance.

The burden is on the defendant to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that the substance was possessed unwittingly. Preponderance of the evidence means that you must be persuaded, considering all of the evidence in the case, that it is more probably true than not true.

CP 42.

However, the trial court refused to give this instruction based upon the defendant's testimony that (1) he did not believe he was in possession of the

pills the officer said he found in the defendant's pocket, and (2) he believed that the officer had planted the pills. The problem with this ruling is that it fails to look at the evidence as a whole and contemplate an alternative possibility that is congruent with both the officer's testimony that he took the pills out of the defendant's pocket and the defendant's testimony that he did not have pills in his pocket and the officer must have planted them. This alternative is that the defendant unknowingly had the pills in his pocket. In other words, the conflicting facts presented at trial are also explained as an unwitting possession. Thus, in the case at bar, the facts do support an argument for unwitting possession. As a result the trial court erred when it refused to give the defendant's proposed instruction. Consequently this court should reverse the defendant's conviction and remand for a new trial in which the court properly instructs the jury on the defense of unwitting possession.

CONCLUSION

The trial court denied the defendant his statutory right to speedy trial when it granted a continuance based upon the state's mismanagement of its case. As a result this court should reverse and remand with instructions to dismiss with prejudice. In the alternative, this court should vacate the defendant's conviction and remand for a new trial based upon the trial court's erroneous refusal to give the defendant's proposed instruction on unwitting possession.