NO. 45755-5-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

v.

GARY COLE, Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR GRAYS HARBOR COUNTY

THE HONORABLE F. MARK MCCAULEY, JUDGE

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

GERALD R. FULLER Interim Prosecuting Attorney for Grays Harbor County

BY: <u>s/Jason F. Walker</u> JASON F. WALKER Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSBA #44358

OFFICE AND POST OFFICE ADDRESS County Courthouse 102 W. Broadway, Rm. 102 Montesano, Washington 98563 Telephone: (360) 249-3951

TABLES

Contents

STATE'S	S COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE CASE	1			
RESPONSE TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 1					
1. Tł	he grant of a continuance was within the trial court's discretion.	1			
	Standard of review	1			
	An officer's vacation is good cause for a continuance	2			
	There is no evidence of mismanagement by the State	3			
	was not error to deny an "unwitting possession" instruction ecause Defendant was not entitled to the instruction	3			
	Standard of review	3			
	Defendant was not entitled to the instruction.	4			
CONCLUSION					

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

<u>Cases</u>

State ex rel. Rushmore v. Bellevue Dist. Justice Court, 15 Wn. A	App. 675,
552 P.2d 693 (1976)	
State v. Downing, 151 Wn.2d 265, 87 P.3d 1169 (2004)	
State v. Grilley, 67 Wn. App. 795, 840 P.2d 903 (1992)	
State v. Jarvis, 160 Wn. App. 111, 246 P.3d 1280 (2011)	
State v. Knutz, 161 Wn. App. 395, 253 P.3d 437 (2011)	
State v. Nguyen, 68 Wn. App. 906, 847 P.2d 936 (1993)	

STATE'S COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State is satisfied with the statement of the factual and procedural history in appellant's brief.

RESPONSE TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The grant of a continuance was within the trial court's discretion.

Defendant claims that the trial court's decision was unreasonable based on speculation about prosecutorial mismanagement, but the record reflects only that the court exercised its discretion. Additionally, Defendant cannot claim prejudice by a continuance because he was under sentence of another conviction throughout the pendency of the instant case.

Standard of review.

"In both criminal and civil cases, the decision to grant or deny a motion for a continuance rests within the sound discretion of the trial court." *State v. Downing*, 151 Wn.2d 265, 272, 87 P.3d 1169, 1172 (2004) (citing *State v. Miles*, 77 Wash.2d 593, 597, 464 P.2d 723 (1970).) "Since 1891, this court has reviewed trial court decisions to grant or deny motions for continuances under an abuse of discretion standard." *Id.* (citing *State v. Hurd*, 127 Wash.2d 592, 902 P.2d 651 (1995).) "We will

not disturb the trial court's decision unless the appellant or petitioner makes 'a clear showing ... [that the trial court's] discretion [is] manifestly unreasonable, or exercised on untenable grounds, or for untenable reasons.'" *Id.* at 272-73 (citing *State ex rel. Carroll v. Junker*, 79 Wash.2d 12, 482 P.2d 775 (1971) (alterations in original.)

An officer's vacation is good cause for a continuance.

"The unavailability of a material State witness is a valid ground for continuing a criminal trial where there is a valid reason for the unavailability, the witness will become available within a reasonable time, and there is no substantial prejudice to the defendant." *State v. Nguyen*, 68 Wn. App. 906, 914, 847 P.2d 936, 940 (1993) (citing *State v. Day*, 51 Wash.App. 544, 754 P.2d 1021, *review denied*, 111 Wash.2d 1016 (1988).) The prescheduled vacation of an arresting police officer is good cause for a continuance. *See State v. Grilley*, 67 Wn. App. 795, 840 P.2d 903 (1992) *accord State ex rel. Rushmore v. Bellevue Dist. Justice Court*, 15 Wn. App. 675, 552 P.2d 693 (1976).

In the instant case the trial court found that Deputy Wilson's vacation was good cause for a continuance, and granted the request. This is clearly within the discretion of the trial court. Additionally, when asked if Defendant would be prejudiced, defense council stated that "beyond going beyond speedy trial, there really isn't" any prejudice. VRP at 6. As was noted on the record, Defendant had been sentenced on another case prior to this conviction, and was in custody anyways.

There is no evidence of mismanagement by the State.

Defendant asserts that, because the prosecutor characterized Deputy Wilson's vacation as "long-scheduled" that this was clearly a case of mismanagement. This is pure speculation. There is nothing in the record to indicate what "long-scheduled" means, or that the prosecutor's office was aware of Deputy Wilson's vacation when Defendant's trial was set. The trial court's decision should be left undisturbed and the conviction affirmed.

2. It was not error to deny an "unwitting possession" instruction because Defendant was not entitled to the instruction.

Defendant now asserts that he was denied his right to present a defense because the trial judge found there was no evidence to support his "unwitting possession" instruction. In fact, not only was there no evidence to support this instruction, it was actually contrary to his defense. **Standard of review.**

This court will "review a challenge to a trial court's refusal to give a jury instruction for abuse of discretion." *State v. Knutz*, 161 Wn. App. 395, 403, 253 P.3d 437, 441 (2011) (citing *Stiley v. Block*, 130 Wash.2d 486, 925 P.2d 194 (1996).) "A defendant is entitled to have his theory of the case submitted to the jury under appropriate instructions *when substantial evidence in the record supports that theory. Id.* (citing *State v. Harvill,* 169 Wash.2d 254, 259, 234 P.3d 1166 (2010) (emphasis added).)
"When determining whether the evidence was sufficient to support giving an instruction, we view the evidence in the light most favorable to the party requesting the instruction." *State v. Jarvis,* 160 Wn. App. 111, 120, 246 P.3d 1280, 1285 (2011) (citing *State v. Fernandez–Medina,* 141 Wash.2d 448, 6 P.3d 1150 (2000).)

Defendant was not entitled to the instruction.

Deputy Wilson testified he found the pills on Defendant. VRP at 32. Defendant testified that Deputy Wilson produced the pills. VRP at 44. Even in a light most favorable to Defendant, on the facts presented there is insufficient evidence to support an unwitting possession instruction.

Defendant's speculation that the jury might have, on its own and without any evidence, decided that Deputy Wilson was able to find drugs on Defendant's person that Defendant did not know he possessed, is wild speculation. No evidence, substantial or otherwise, supported this instruction and the trial court properly refused to give it. This court should affirm this decision and Defendant's conviction.

CONCLUSION

Defendant's assignments of error are without merit. The trial court was within its discretion to grant a continuance because the arresting officer was on vacation, and there was no basis to give Defendant's proffered instruction. He was afforded a fair trial and was convicted. This court should reject the assignments of error and affirm the decisions of the trial court.